
Page 1 of 1 

 

  

  

 

 

Date/Time:   Wednesday, May 15, 2024, at 1:00 p.m. 

Place:      Nashville International Airport – Tennessee Board Room  

Board Members:  Joycelyn Stevenson, Esq., Chair 
    Jimmy Granbery, Vice Chair 
    Andrew Byrd, Secretary 

Bobby Joslin 
    Nancy Sullivan, P.E. 
    Dr. Glenda Glover 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
No requests for public comments received to date.  Deadline is May 14, 2024 at 1:00 a.m.    

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners & MPC Board 
of Directors 

IV. CHAIR’S REPORT 

V. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

VI. ITEMS FOR APPROVAL 

1. Construction Contract for MNPD Hangar at John C. Tune (Operations) 
2. Construction Contract for Cargo Apron Slab Replacement Ph 8 of 22 (Operations) 
3. On Call Contract for Field & Laboratory Testing Services (Operations) 
4. First Amendment to MNPD Lease Agreement (Finance) 
5. Amendment to IT Staffing Services Purchase Order (PO) (Finance) 
6. Sublease Amendments for Fraport Concession Subtenants (Finance) 
7. Board Officer Elections (Management) 

 
VII. INFORMATION ITEMS 

1. BNA Development Update (Operations) 
2. JWN Development Update (Operations) 
3. BNA Concessions Program Update (including Quarterly Sales Report) (Finance) 
4. Quarterly Retirement/OPEB/Treasury Investment Reports (Finance) 
5. 2024 Affirmative Action Program (AAP) Update (Management) 

VIII. ADJOURN 

Agenda of the Joint Meeting of the  
MNAA Board of Commissioners 
and MPC Board of Directors 



Page 1 of 13  

 

 

 

 
 
Date: April 17, 2024      Location:  Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority 
             Tennessee Boardroom 
  
Time: 1:00 p.m.  
 
Board Members Present: Joycelyn Stevenson, Chair; Jimmy Granbery, Vice Chair; Andrew 

Byrd, Secretary; Bobby Joslin; Nancy Sullivan; and Dr. Glenda Glover 
  
Board Members Absent: None 
 
MNAA Staff Present: Doug Kreulen, Neale Bedrock, Lisa Lankford, Trish Saxman 
 Marge Basrai, Daniel B. Brown, Kristen Deuben, Aaron Flake, Adam 

Floyd, David Griswold, Ijeoma Ike, Eric Johnson, Carrie Logan, Rachel 
Moore, Ted Morrissey, Stacey Nickens, Oliva Parven, Josh Powell, 
Robert Ramsey, Davita Taylor, Erin Thomas, and Colleen Von Hoene 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER  

In accordance with the 3rd Amended and Restated Bylaws of the MNAA Board of Commissioners, 

Section 2.3, Chair Stevenson called the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 

Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m., pursuant to Public Notice dated April 12, 2024. 

 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

President Kreulen stated MNAA received one Public Comment Request in accordance with MNAA 

Policy. Mr. Michael King requested to speak on Item III, Approval of the Minutes. President 

Kreulen told Mr. King he was recognized, that the Commissioners have been provided with the 4 

documents he previously sent, and that he had 2 minutes to speak. President Kreulen asked Ms. 

Rachel Moore, Executive Assistant to the President and CEO, to please start the timer.  

 

Mr. King thanked President Kreulen and gave compliments to the airport authority. This is the first 

time he has seen the plaza and kudos to President Kreulen and the staff. They have done 

outstanding work. Mr. King stated his only concern and reason for being here today, is the 

Minutes from the  March 20, 2024 MNAA Board meeting, where Commissioner Glover had asked 

if there was an extension provided by Monell’s or a written request and documentation. The 

Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA 
Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 2 of 13  

response from President Kreulen stated no - - no extension or document, nor is there a plan that 

has ever been presented to MNAA in written form.  Again, the Commissioners asked if there was 

a statement or document and the response was no. Commissioner Glover asked specifically if 

there was a written request for a lease extension and President Kreulen replied no. Mr. King stated 

his concern is that he has a feeling that some of the paperwork did not get to President Kreulen 

because we had written down some concerns, such as the willingness to pay to have the property 

moved. He stated that the Commissioners have seen the request, and it is not about Monell’s 

losing the lease, it is about Nashville losing a historic property. That is why we have been so 

adamant and that is why we have been talking about it, he stated. Mr. King said that there is a 

way to get this property moved, but there is a lack of communication in order to do that. Mr. King 

stated he shares this because he talked with Metro Council and the Mayor and they  agreed to 

save it, and he had a conversation with the Governor this morning on saving the property. This 

property is right up there with the White House and Andrew Jackson’s home, it is a significant 

piece of history that is being qualified. As he began moving onto his next point, Mr. King’s time to 

speak expired and Ms. Moore called time. Mr. King thanked the Board for their time. 

 

President Kreulen thanked Mr. King for his time and reminded the Commissioners there are 

approximately 245 pages of documents required when the Airport Authority decides to enter into 

a new lease.  Normally it takes the airport 6 months to run that type of solicitation and we made 

that decision back in September 2023. Since that time Mr. King has been notified and did not 

respond until February, as the Board is aware. The business decision was not to renew Monell’s 

lease and the lease is expiring on April 30, 2024. President Kreulen stated that is all he will say at 

this time, and Mr. King has had the opportunity to make his public comments. President Kreulen 

stated the Minutes of the Board meeting, which he has had an opportunity to review, were 

produced from our recording by Ms. Trish Saxman, Executive Assistant to President and CEO, and 

reviewed by Ms. Ijeoma Ike, Senior Counsel, Ms. Lisa Lankford, Deputy Chief Executive Officer & 

Chief Strategy Officer, and himself. President Kreulen stated the Minutes of the March 20, 2024 

Board meeting are accurate and he recommends approval of the Minutes. 

 

  



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 3 of 13  

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Chair Stevenson called for a motion to approve the Minutes of the March 20, 2024 Joint Meeting of 

the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors. A motion to approve was made by 

Vice Chair Granbery and seconded by Commissioner Byrd.  

Chair Stevenson asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:  

Chair Stevenson – Yes 

Vice Chair Granbery – Yes 

Commissioner Byrd – Yes 

Commissioner Joslin – Yes 

Commissioner Sullivan – Yes 

Commissioner Glover – Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 6 to 0. 

 

IV. CHAIR’S REPORT 

Chair Stevenson stated that she was going to reserve her Chair’s Report for one of the approval items. 

 

V. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

President Kreulen thanked Chair Stevenson and Commissioners. President Kreulen reported that 

on March 26, 2024 MNAA held a very successful full-scale emergency drill. MNAA had over 100 

volunteers, 40 different mutual aid partners from Metro and the State, and all surrounding 

hospitals participating. President Kreulen gave his compliments to Mr. Adam Floyd, COO, and his 

team for organizing and planning. This drill is done every 3 years to demonstrate to the FAA that 

our Airport Emergency Plan is effective and we are capable of responding as required by 14 CFR 

Part 139. President Kreulen thanked Mr. Floyd and his team. Vice Chair Granbery stated it was 

very well done. President Kreulen stated the airport is required to have an annual drill and 

triannual exercise. MNAA does it quarterly with table tops and then every 3 years we rent an 

aircraft simulator for our team to practice putting the fire out. President Kreulen also thanked 

Chief Griswold and his team. 

 

President Kreulen reported on the very successful British Airways aircraft upgrade. BNA welcomed 

251 international passengers on the British Airways 777-200ER. This jet increased capacity from 

214 to 272 seats and is approximately 92% full. 

 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 4 of 13  

President Kreulen thanked the Commissioners who attended the Hilton BNA Grand Opening. It 

was a great event, especially because Mayor O’Connell had the opportunity to look out over the 

property where MNAA will be upgrading and renovating over the next couple of years. 

 

President Kreulen introduced Mr. Aaron Flake, Director of Parking & Grand Transportation, who 

was recently appointed to the Airport Ground Transportation Association (AGTA) Board. Mr. Flake 

was unanimously selected, based on his industry experience, participation in association 

activities, and enthusiasm. This is the first time MNAA has had a member on this Board 

representing Nashville. President Kreulen stated that technically you would be hard pressed to 

find someone that understands the business and the details as much as Mr. Flake does, and that 

we are proud that he is representing Nashville on that Board. 

 

President Kreulen gave his compliments to Fraport who went to Dallas to celebrate our 

competition in the 2024 Airport Experience Best of North America Awards hosted by Airport 

Experience News.  There were 31 total awards and BNA won in 2 of those categories, Best Bar 

Experience and Best Local-Inspired Store.  

 

President Kreulen stated WestJet added air service to Winnipeg. Previously you heard us mention 

that we are 1 of only 8 airports in the United States that go to the top 5 cities in Canada. We do 

not have number 6, which is Ottawa. Winnipeg will be a seasonal flight, nonstop, twice a week. 

Commissioner Glover asked is this a stand-alone company or owned by anybody, to which Mr. 

Josh Powell, AVP, Airline Affairs & Air Service Development, stated WestJet is the 2nd largest airline 

in Canada, behind Air Canada. Commissioner Glover asked if it is publicly shared and Mr. Powell 

stated he will verify. 

 

President Kreulen stated Southwest continues to grow and all of our plans are centered around 

all of the growth, international and domestic. Our other airlines are growing, and Southwest just 

released new daily non-stop destinations with 3 more flights at BNA beginning service on June 4, 

2024 - Greenville, SC (GSP), Cincinnati, OH/Northern Kentucky (CVG)and Richmond, VA (RIC). 

 

President Kreulen congratulated Commissioner Glover and stated it was an honor to attend the 

Salute to Excellence Gala on April 13, 2024. It was an honor to hear her speak, meet all of her 

friends that had positive things to say about her and lastly to see her 5 grandchildren walking with 

her, he stated. A large round of applause followed.  



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 5 of 13  

 

 

President Kreulen stated the April FY24 BNA Passenger projection is 67,755 passengers which is 

6% over last April, and for the year we are averaging 7% over FY23. We still think we will hit our 

adjusted budget between 23.6M and 23.8M passengers. 

 

President Kreulen reported the Committee 30-day Outlook for April will be very busy with several 

construction contracts for approval in the Operations Committee and several approvals in the 

Finance Committee. One approval in May is the MNPD hangar construction contract, and 

tomorrow we will receive the bids on that. The bids will be provided to Metro and will go into the 

lease that we previously coordinated with them and that amendment will also be approved in 

May. We will provide the Commissioners an update on the financial status as we move forward. 

President Kreulen stated for the Management Committee, the Board Officer Elections are due in 

May. The Committee 60-Day Outlook for May will be busy with approvals in both Operations and 

Finance Committees. MNAA is continuing to schedule time with the Commissioners to discuss the 

Terminal II Siting Study and all the moving pieces that are related with the multi-billion-dollar 

future development.  

 

VI. ITEMS FOR APRPOVAL 

1. FY25 BNA O&M Budget, MNAA Resolution #2024-04 (Finance) 

President Kreulen stated there are 6 budgets for approval and introduced Ms. Marge Basrai, 

EVP, Chief Financial Officer, to brief the Commissioners on the budgets and resolutions. Ms. 

Basrai stated she gave a detailed report last week at the Finance Committee meeting and 

today she will give a very high-level summary and recommend approval. The Finance 

Committee did recommend approval of all 6 budgets and all 6 budgets will be combined for 

one approval at the end of the presentation. 

 

Ms. Basrai stated the FY25 BNA O&M Budget 24.75M passengers which is a 5% increase over 

the projected FY24 year-end of 23.6M to 23.8M passengers. The FY25 budget uses the 

remaining Federal Relief funds that were allocated to us. The total funds awarded were 

$126.5M, of which $119.9M have been used for operating expenses and debt service. By the 

end of FY24 we will have $6.6M of relief funds remaining which will be used for FY25 debt 

service. Ms. Basrai presented the Budget Summary Metrics calculated for the FY25 budget as 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 6 of 13  

compared to the FY24 amended budget. Debt service coverage is down and that is due to less 

federal relief funds being used in FY25 as well as having less capitalized interest to pay for 

debt since a lot of the construction projects are now finished. Ms. Basrai stated the Signatory 

Landing Fees and the Cost per Enplanement is up due to increased expenses and debt service. 

The Days Cash on Hand as of March 21st is above the Board requirement in the Debt 

Management Policy. 

 

Ms. Basrai summarized the FY25 BNA O&M Budget stating the Total Operating Revenue is 

$341.7M, an increase of $45.8M over the amended FY24 budget; Total Operating Expenses 

are $195.7M, an increase of $22.2M; Income before Depreciation & Grants is $150.9M, which 

is an increase of $11.9M for the budget period July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2024.  

 

2. FY25 BNA Capital Improvements Budget & FY25-29 Capital Improvements Plan, MNAA 

Resolution #2024-05 

Ms. Basrai stated the FY25 BNA Capital Improvement Budget is $1.27B and the FY25-FY29 

Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP”) is $2.15B. Major FY25 projects include the construction of 

Concourse A Expansion $798.5M; TARI Phase II and III $166.5M for roadway construction; and 

Central Apron Parking Expansion Phase I $154.3M. The projects that are programed for FY26 

through FY29 are for planning purposes only and updates will be made throughout the year.  

We will come back to the Board for the FY26 CIP budget. Ms. Basrai stated as a reminder that 

each individual project will be approved and the approval of the CIP does not mean the Board 

is approving these projects.  

 

3. FY25 JWN O&M Budget, MNAA Resolution #2024-06 

Ms. Basrai presented the FY25 JWN O&M Budget stating the Operating Revenue is $3M, an 

increase of $207K; Total Operating Expense $2.3M, a decrease of $161K; and Income before 

Depreciation, Grants and Transfers $893K, an increase of $470K. 

 

4. FY25 JWN Capital Improvement Budget & FY25-29 Capital Improvement Plan, MNAA 

Resolution #2024-07 

Ms. Basrai stated the FY25 JWN Capital Improvement Budget is $930K. The FY25-FY29 CIP is 

$17.4M. Major FY25 projects include resurfacing the parking lot and Airport Drive. Each 

individual project will be approved, and the approval of the CIP does not mean the Board is 

approving these projects.  



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 7 of 13  

 

5. FY25 MPC O&M Budget, MPC Resolution #2024-01 

Ms. Basrai presented the FY25 MPC O&M Budget and stated the Operating Revenue of $5.3M 

increased $1.6M; Total Operating Expense of $1.8M increased $164K; and Income before 

Depreciation of $3.4M increased $1.5M. 

 

6. FY25 MPC Special Projects Budget & FY25-29 Special Projects Plan, MPC Resolution #2024-02 

Ms. Basrai presented the FY25 MPC 5-year Special Projects Budget at $1.1M. Some projects 

are needed to ensure the International Plaza Building (“IPB”) is safe and in general working 

order. The only projects scheduled currently in FY25 for IPB are: 1) Roof replacement $1M, 

and 2) Demo of old café in building. The only funding source for MPC is their cash balance, 

which is $11M. 

 

Ms. Basrai stated all of these 6 budgets were presented to the Finance Committee last week 

and the Finance Committee recommended approval to the Board of Commissioners by a 3-0 

vote. Ms. Basrai requested the Board of Commissioners approve the following: 

1) Operating 

─ approve the proposed FY25 BNA, JWN & MPC operating budgets, and 

─ authorize the Chair and President & CEO to execute: 

• MNAA Resolutions No. 2024-04 and 2024-06 

• MPC Resolution No. 2024-01 

2) Capital 

─ approve the FY25-FY29 BNA and JWN Capital Improvement and MPC Special 

Projects Plans, 

─ approve the FY25 BNA and JWN Capital Improvement and MPC Special Project 

Budgets, 

─ authorize MNAA to accept all grant(s) from the Federal Aviation Administration 

(FAA) and from the State of Tennessee, 

─ designate the President & CEO, or designee, as the authorized representative of 

the Authority, and 

─ authorize the Chair and President & CEO to execute: 

• MNAA Resolutions No. 2024-05 and 2024-07 

• MPC Resolution No. 2024-02 

 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 8 of 13  

Commissioner Byrd stated the Finance Committee voted 3-0 to recommend approval to the 

Board. Commissioner Byrd made a motion for approval and Vice Chair Granbery seconded 

the motion. 

 

Chair Stevenson asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:  

Chair Stevenson – Yes 

Vice Chair Granbery – Yes 

Commissioner Byrd -Yes 

Commissioner Joslin – Yes 

Commissioner Sullivan – Yes 

Commissioner Glover – Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 6 to 0. 

 

7. MNAA Resolution #2024-08 Honoring Commissioner Bill Freeman (Management) 

President Kreulen stated he would like to thank the Commissioners publicly for their support 

in the Management Committee last week recommending approval of MNAA Resolution 

#2024-08. Commissioner Freeman served honorably on the Board for 8 years from January 

2016 through March 2024. Commissioner Freeman has served as Chair, Secretary, as well as 

a member of all the different committees we have had. President Kreulen stated 

Commissioner Freeman’s mentorship, leadership and advice has helped himself and 

members of the staff and we are honored to draft this Resolution for the Management 

Committee and provide to the Board for your consideration. 

 

Chair Stevenson thanked President Kreulen and stated as Chair of the Management 

Committee and Board, it was an honor to be a part of the Management Committee and 

recommends approval of this Resolution. Commissioner Freeman was very welcoming to her 

when she joined the Board, and has been a source of support and strength of the Board, and 

supported her and nominated her as Secretary and for Vice Chair and over the past year while 

she served out the rest of his term as Chair of the Board. It is a distinction and honor of the 

Management Committee to recommend this for full approval by the Board. 

 

Chair Stevenson stated the Management Committee voted 2-0 to recommend approval by 

the Board. Chair Stevenson made a motion for approval and Vice Chair Granbery seconded 

the motion. 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 9 of 13  

 

Chair Stevenson asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:  

Chair Stevenson – Yes 

Vice Chair Granbery – Yes 

Commissioner Byrd -Yes 

Commissioner Joslin – Yes 

Commissioner Sullivan – Yes 

Commissioner Glover – Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 6 to 0. 

 

8. Amendment to Donelson Pike Early Completion Initiative Agreement 

President Kreulen introduced Mr. Robert Ramsey, EVP, Chief Development Officer, to present 

the Amendment to Donelson Pike Early Completion Initiative Agreement. Mr. Ramsey stated 

regarding the Amendment to the Early Completion Incentive that this Board approved in 

March 20, 2024, in subsequent negotiations between TDOT and Superior Construction 

Company Southeast LLC in finalizing the change order, they negotiated that the liquidated 

damages on TDOT’s contract with Superior would not go into effect under the early incentive 

agreement until October 31, 2025. This is a change from what was presented to the Board on 

March 20, 2024, the previous date had been September 4, 2025. In negotiations between 

TDOT and Superior, they negotiated a grace period from September 4, 2025 to October 31, 

2025, if Superior has not completed their work before TDOT’s liquidated damages will go into 

effect. As a reminder, liquidated damages are $4K a day. Mr. Ramsey apologized for not 

bringing this item to the Operations Committee and explained that staff was not informed of 

this until after the Operations Committee had met. This is the only term that has been 

changed in that agreement than what was presented on March 20, 2024. 

 

Commissioner Joslin asked if Superior gave any reason as to why they moved it out 6/7 weeks. 

Mr. Ramsey replied Superior had some concerns that something beyond their control may 

keep them from meeting the completion dates. President Kreulen stated MNAA participated 

in this agreement to incentivize the roadway completion.  This would be something at the end 

of the project, such as a guardrail or something on the end of one of their roads, and they do 

not want to risk being fined. That is between TDOT and Superior, but we want acceleration 

by 365 days of the previous agreement. 

 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 10 of 13  

Chait Stevenson asked for a motion. Commissioner Byrd made a motion for approval and 

Commissioner Glover seconded the motion. 

 

Chair Stevenson asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:  

Chair Stevenson – Yes 

Vice Chair Granbery – Yes 

Commissioner Byrd -Yes 

Commissioner Joslin – Yes 

Commissioner Sullivan – Yes 

Commissioner Glover – Yes 

 The motion was passed with a vote of 6 to 0. 

 

VII. INFORMATON ITEMS 

1. Terminal II Siting Study Update 3 of 8 (Operations) 

President Kreulen stated the Terminal II Siting Study is 3/8s of the way there. MNAA started off 

with the objectives in January and February and we looked at the forecast . In FY24 we will hit 

almost 24M Million Annual Passengers (“MAP”), and by FY34 we will be at 35 MAP, by FY39 will 

be at 42 MAP, and by FY49 we will be at 54 MAP. This effort is to try to make sure that we can 

keep up with that growth and be ready to handle what Metro Nashville and all surrounding 

counties of the State of Tennessee need. With some of the sites that are there, including the one 

with the Dell and Amazon property, some Metro parks in area 5, we are not comfortable that we 

can work our way through it. President Kreulen stated that he is not saying that areas 3 and 4 are 

without challenges. MNAA plans to get back with Commissioners later in the month of May and 

have a workshop to give more details. MNAA is making good progress, but the challenges, amount 

of work and decisions we will have to make over the next several months are pretty daunting at 

this point, but assured the Commissioners that the airport authority will be just fine. 

 

2. BNA Development Update (Operations) 

President Kreulen updated the Commissioners on BNA Development and provided photographs 

of Concourse D Extension construction, discrete inbound widening of the last 1,700 feet coming 

to the terminal off of I-40, and Donelson Pike blasting to bring it 30 – 40 feet down in places. 

Concourse A is heavy in the design phase and the Board will be receiving some updates on that in 

the near future. 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 11 of 13  

 

3. “Preliminary” New Horizon Program Budget (2022 – 2028) 

President Kreulen stated that since we have moved beyond BNA Vision and into New Horizon and 

with the growth of Nashville, we have had to make several changes. President Kreulen presented 

a chart showing the Preliminary New Horizon Program Budget, stating everything highlighted in 

yellow is where we are refining the scope and budget. We plan to present the final program scope 

and budget to the Board in May. The new Air Freight Building may be pulled out of the program 

and we also think it will cost more to finish the TARI. We are also evaluating project and program 

contingency. MNAA is adding big projects, such as a central ramp for the crew base and a future 

project, and the details are still being worked out. We think we will be close in May with a better 

budget for the Commissioners to consider. 

 

Commissioner Glover asked is this over a 5-year period. President Kreulen replied that this is over 

a 6-year period, from 2022 - 2028. Terminal II comes over on top of that number. Commissioner 

Glover asked for the time period on a new garage and President Kreulen replied we believe we 

will start on a parking garage soon but the location has not been determined. Every time we think 

we have a spot, he stated, we realize we need something else in that area. Each of the projects 

within the New Horizon will require approval by the Board. Commissioner Glover asked about the 

rental cars and President Kreulen stated that is not in the New Horizon Program, and that is 

something we will have to decide how to fund. Commissioner Byrd stated the biggest expenditure 

will probably be the Baggage Handling Systems which is $243M as opposed to the prior estimate 

of $125M. President Kreulen replied yes, when the Commissioners approved that concept it was 

$125M, but because of the growth of Nashville we had to expand that project to handle 40M 

passengers. It also has more redundancy than was earlier planned. Commissioner Bryd asked if 

Concourse D is already defined and locked in, and President Kreulen replied, yes, it is locked in 

and awarded and being built. President Kreulen stated that there have not been any reasons to 

believe that we cannot do Concourse A, it is in design now and we have no indication yet that we 

will miss the $855M budget. President Kreulen explained to the Commissioners that what they 

are seeing is the change in the road problem that we have to figure out and the new addition of 

the Southwest crew base and the central ramp. We are concerned that we have to keep growing 

parking because the number of passengers we are getting cannot be met with our current parking. 

Commissioner Byrd asked if the terminal access roadway budget is still up in the air, and President 

Kreulen stated, yes, MNAA is going to accelerate Phase II for TDOT to get out of our way and then 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 12 of 13  

we are going to see if we can accelerate our Phase III and get done earlier than previously planned. 

We already cut one year off with the incentive to TDOT, and there will be a dollar cost associated 

with further acceleration.  Commissioner Byrd asked if the central ramp hole is being filled with 

rock and dirt. President Kreulen stated we first have to start design, and then would require 

environmental permits completed before fill would start. Commissioner Byrd asked if it is for 

deicing planes, storing planes overnight and increasing surface area for airplane storage. 

President Kreulen stated yes. He stated that the Board previously approved multiple studies to 

study roads and parking. One result of the parking study was that we need to find a place to 

expand parking to keep up with demand. The garage budget is an educated estimate based on 

the 3 garages that we built. We do not know how many floors it will be because we are not sure 

where it will go. Some concepts that we have seen combine the rental car facility and the garage. 

We have not gotten far enough along for the staff to recommend an approval by the Board. 

 

Vice Chair Granbery asked regarding the $2.1B revised budget, if MNAA is budgeting $240M 

contingency, with $160M in the individual projects and $80 in the overall budget. President 

Kreulen replied that the contingency is estimated using the same percentages as Vision. Vice Chair 

Granbery agreed and stated with program and individual contingency you are able to really keep 

control on it. President Kreulen replied we have a 7-year history right now on being on budget 

and on schedule and we want to get this close enough so that we are not coming back to the 

Board too often. Finance has to know and have discussions on debt and financing and Ms. Basrai 

is taking these estimates and running through our 10-year financial models. Everyone is asking 

the right questions and if we lock this in the next month or two, Commissioners will feel 

comfortable through 2028 and we will know what we can afford. Terminal II will be larger than 

everything that we have done. 

 

Vice Chair Granbery asked what percentage of the Baggage Handling System (“BHS”) is paid for 

by the airlines. President Kreulen stated that is a great question, and the airlines will pay for that. 

Ms. Basrai concurred. Vice Chair Granbery stated that the airport has a really good track record 

on that. With the million-dollar garage, there is so much you can charge to park, and it will pretty 

much carry itself as well. President Kreulen stated regarding BHS, the airlines will pay for that 

because they need it and they are going to do the same thing on the $156M central ramp. When 

we get to the rental car facility, that will be paid by CFCs from the rental cars, so we have some 

ways to have our partners, rental car companies or airline companies, pay for large chunks of this. 



April 17, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors 
 

 Page 13 of 13  

4. BNA Concessions Openings 

President Kreulen stated we have two Fraport restaurants that opened on time: Half Moon 

Empanadas opened on April 3, 2024 on Concourse B and Prince’s Hot Chicken opened on April 9, 

2024 on Concourse C/D. MNAA received good reviews on both of those and we think they are 

going to be very successful. 

 

5. JWN Development Update 

President Kreulen updated the Commissioners on JWN Development and stated it has been 

nonstop. Parcels 2 and 3 are coming up and Parcels 4 and 5 are in construction as well. The steel 

for Hangar 3 is laying in front of Hangar 2. Ramp 3 Expansion will complete this month. We have 

a meeting with a prospective renter/builder that would like another large hangar on JWN and we 

are going to show them some drawings and a Letter of Intent.  

 

6. Board Officer Elections 

President Kreulen stated that pursuant to Section 2.3.1 of the 3rd Amended & Restated Bylaws of 

the MNAA Board of Commissioners,  at the Management Committee Meeting on even years, 

which will be held on May 8, 2024, and Board Officer elections will be conducted and approved 

at the Board meeting on May 15, 2024. The Officer term will be July 1, 2024 through June 30, 

2026. 

President Kreulen concluded the presentation of the informational items.  

 

I. ADJOURN 

There being no further business brought before the Board, Vice Chair Granbery made the motion 

to adjourn, and Commissioner Byrd seconded the motion, which carried by a vote of 6 to 0. Chair 

Stevenson adjourned the meeting at 1:42 p.m.  

 

             _______________________________________ 

        Andrew Byrd, Board Secretary 



 

Page 1 of 2 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: John C. Tune Airport (JWN) 

Subject: Construction Contract for MNPD Helicopter Hangar  
Project No. 2392 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners: 

1) Accept the bid by Baron Construction, LLC for the construction of the MNPD Helicopter 
Hangar and; 

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for the amount 
contained herein. 

NOTE:  Execution of this contract is contingent on execution of an amendment to the lease between 
MNAA and the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, which authorizes 
supplemental rent to reimburse MNAA for the design and construction of the hangar. 

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

This project consists of the construction of a hangar and concrete aircraft apron for the 
Metropolitan Nashville Police Department’s (MNPD) helicopter fleet at the John C. Tune Airport. 
The proposed structure consists of aircraft storage space (hangar area) with attached office space 
(two floors). The aircraft apron is a 168’ X 50’ concrete slab designed for landing and taxiing of 
helicopters.  

An Invitation to Bid for the project was advertised on March 18, 2024, and consisted of one (1) 
bid schedule and one (1) add alternate. The base bid schedule included all raceways, circuits 
and/or utilities inside of the building.  Additive alternate #1 consisted of installing an overhead 
crane, epoxy floor in the hangar, generator, and ITA and security.   

On April 18th, 2024, two (2) bids were received.  Below is a tabulation of those bids: 
 

Contractor Base Bid  
Add Alternate #1 

Total Base Bid & Add 
Alternate #1 

Baron Construction, LLC $9,667,000 $745,000 $10,412,000 

JE Dunn Construction $9,750,000 $770,000 $10,520,000 



Page 2 of 2 

Based on the availability of funding and the needs of the airport, the Base Bid plus Add Alternate #1 
is the preferred construction.  

The SMWBE goal established for the project was 10.08% MBE and 4.03% WBE. MNAA’s Office of 
Business Diversity conducted a Bid Analysis on April 24, 2024; that analysis indicates that Baron 
Construction, LLC committed to a 10.50% MBE and 4.07% WBE participation level for the base bid and 
additive alternate, utilizing the following firms:  Music City Masonry, McQuiddy Trucking, Polk 
Associates, BRAAV, Beard Properties, SB Johnson, I/S Engineering, HireQuest, Access Data Network 
Solutions, and Collier Roofing. 

Baron Construction, LLC’s Bid is 14.19% lower than the Engineer of Record’s (Lambe + Associates, LLC) 
opinion of probable construction cost of $12,134,197.00 for the Base Bid + Add Alternate #1. It is the 
Engineer of Record’s opinion that this Bid is the most responsive and balanced.  

The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA) and Engineer of Record, Lambe + Associates, 
LLC, have evaluated the bids and determined the bid from Baron Construction, LLC to be responsive 
and responsible and recommend award to Baron Construction, LLC. 

B. Impact/Findings 

MNAA SMBWE Goal:     10.08% MBE and 4.03% WBE 

Contractor SMBWE Goal:     10.50% MBE and 4.07% WBE   

Anticipated Contract Start Date:   June 2024 

Duration of Contract:      260 Calendar Days 

Contract Completion Date:      March 2025 

Contract Cost:         $10,412,00.00. 

Funding Source:       100% MNAA 

C. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in JWN 
• Plan for the future 

D. Options/Alternatives 

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the MNPD Helicopter Hangar not being built, 
and JWN would not be able to accommodate MNPD’s helicopter fleet. 

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on May 8, 2024. The Operations Committee 
voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport (BNA) 

Subject: Construction Contract for Cargo Apron Slab Replacement 
Project No. 2306 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests the Board of Commissioners: 

1) Accept the bid by The Harper Company for the Cargo Apron Slab Replacement at BNA and; 

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for the amount 
contained herein. 

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

The Cargo Apron Slab Replacement consists of full depth reconstruction of approximately 5,200 SY of 
concrete on the north cargo apron, formerly the main airport terminal apron, near the FedEx parking 
positions and Taxiway Charlie 5.  The existing pavement was last inspected in 2014 and found to have 
a Pavement Condition Index (PCI) of 54 (Poor) and is showing significant signs of deterioration. This 
project scope includes 16” of FAA-specified P-501 concrete  

An Invitation to Bid (“ITB”) was advertised on March 5th, 2024, and consisted of three (3) bid schedules 
and an additive alternate. The bid schedules were based on area with the goal being to maximize the 
area of work that could be completed within the project budget.  

 

On April 4, 2024, three (3) bids were received.  Below is a tabulation of those bids: 

 
Contractor Schedule 1  Schedule 2  Schedule 3 Add Alternate 1 

The Harper Company $1,338,445.59 $1,594,967.89 $2,044,433.01 $1,721,316.24 

Hi-Way Paving, Inc. $1,929,247.97 $2,275,190.30 $2,888,835.47 $2,190,078.00 

Jones Bros. LLC $2,188,433.50 $2,888,835.47 $3,411,549.00 $3,091,700.00 



Page 2 of 2 

Using the bids received, Schedule 3 provides the highest value and most efficient project within the 
program budget. Add Alternate 1 was not awarded because it was out of budget when combined with 
Schedule 3, and the area is not adjacent to the others.  

The SMWBE participation level established for the project was 7.99% MBE and 6.84% WBE.  The 
Harper Company committed to the SMWBE participation level by utilizing OnTrac Investigative Group, 
Axtell’s Pavement Solutions, SB Johnson Construction, and Pozzolanic Contracting.  

The Harper Company's bid for Schedule 3 is 20.29% lower than the Engineer of Record’s (Allen & 
Hoshall) opinion of probable construction cost of $2,565,160.00, 28.23% lower than the next low 
bidder (Hi-Way Paving, Inc.), and 40.07% lower than the high bidder (Jones Bros. LLC).    

The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA) and Allen & Hoshall have evaluated the bids 
and determined the bid from the Harper Company to be responsive and responsible and recommend 
award to the Harper Company.  

B. Impact/Findings 

MNAA SMWBD Goal:      7.99% MBE and 6.84% WBE 

Contractor SMWBE Participation:    7.99% MBE and 6.84% WBE 

Anticipated Contract Start Date:    June 2024 

Duration of Contract:       180 Calendar Days 

Contract Completion Date:       December 2024 

Contract Cost:          $2,044,433.01 

Funding Source:        100% MNAA 

C. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in BNA 

• Plan for the future 

D. Options/Alternatives 

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the continued deterioration of the current 
concrete pavement, leading to expensive emergency repairs in the future and creation potential 
Foreign Object Debris (FOD) issues on the cargo apron.   

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on May 8, 2024. The Operations Committee 
voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 3 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport / John C. Tune Airport 

Subject: On-Call Field and Laboratory Testing & Inspection Services 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests the Board of Commissioners: 

1) Accept the proposals by ECS Southeast, LLC, S&ME, Inc., Terracon Consultants, Inc., and TTL, 
Inc. for the On-Call Field and Laboratory Testing & Inspection Services at Nashville 
International Airport (BNA) and John C. Tune Airport (JWN); and 

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contracts for the 
amounts contained herein each contract as applicable. 

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

The Engineering Department is responsible for overseeing quality of work performed by contractors, 
subcontractors and tenants at BNA and JWN.  In order to ensure contractors are meeting the 
minimum specification requirements, D&E utilizes on call field and laboratory testing firms to 
provide materials testing, analysis and professional services to support quality assurance efforts for 
construction projects.  
 
The three (3) existing on-call field and laboratory testing contracts expire on June 25, 2024.  With 
the implementation of the BNA New Horizon and number of related capital projects, multiple 
contracted firms are necessary to ensure projects maintain quality per the specifications and remain 
on schedule. 
 
A Request for Proposals was advertised on March 4, 2024. 
 
On April 3, 2024, four (4) proposals were received from ECS Southeast, LLC, S&ME, Inc., Terracon 
Consultants, Inc., and TTL, Inc. 
 
The selection committee evaluated the proposals based on the criteria below: 
1. Mandatory Requirements 
2. Experience & Qualifications 
3. SMWBE 
4. Price 



Page 2 of 3 

 
The selection committee determined ECS Southeast, LLC, S&ME, Inc., Terracon Consultants, Inc., and 
TTL, Inc. to all be qualified firms to provide on-call field and laboratory testing services.  The full 
results of the technical evaluation are presented in the table below.  
 

Contractor Evaluation Score 
ECS Southeast 281 

S&ME, Inc. 255 
Terracon Consultants, Inc. 237 

TTL, Inc. 278 
 
The SMWBE participation level established for each the contract is 8.32% MBE and/or WBE.  Each 
firm committed to meeting or exceeding the goal.  Each firm’s SMWBE subcontractors are identified 
below: 
 

ECS Southeast: Civil Infrastructure Associates and HireQuest Direct. 
 

S&ME, Inc:  Civil Infrastructure Associates and 2MNext. 
 

Terracon Consultants, Inc: Pillars Development, R.S. Miller Group, and Nordstrom Testing 
Services. 

 
TTL, Inc:  2MNext and Entree Savvy, LLC. 

 
The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA) has evaluated the proposals and determined 
ECS Southeast, S&ME, Inc., Terracon Consultants, Inc., and TTL, Inc. to be responsive and responsible 
and recommend award to these firms for On-Call Field and Laboratory Testing & Inspection Services 
at BNA and JWN.  

B. Impact/Findings 

MNAA SMWBE Level:   8.32% MBE and/or WBE 

ECS Southeast SMWBE Level:  8.32% MBE and/or WBE 

S&ME, Inc. SMWBE Level:  11.32% MBE and/or WBE 

Terracon Consultants, Inc. SMWBE Level:  8.32% MBE and/or WBE 

TTL, Inc. SMWBE Level:  20% MBE and/or WBE 

Anticipated Contract Start Date:   June 2024 

Duration of Contract:    1 year (plus 4 one-year options) 

Contract Completion Date:  June 2025 

Contract Amount:        $1,000,000.00 NTE per year 

Funding Source:        CIP and/or O&M  

C. Strategic Priorities 



Page 3 of 3 

• Invest in BNA and JWN 

D. Options/Alternatives 

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option prevents MNAA from ensuring New Horizon and 
associated projects are built with quality materials and remain on schedule. 

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on May 8, 2024. The Operations Committee 
voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: North Development Parcel 10 at John C. Tune Airport 

Subject: Metropolitan Nashville Police Department (MNPD) First Amendment to Lease Agreement 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that Board of Commissioners: 

1) approve the First Amendment to the lease agreement with MNPD. 

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the First Amendment.  

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

On December 22,2022, the MNAA and the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson 
County (the “Tenant”) entered into a Lease Agreement for 0.84 acres or 36,624 square feet of 
unimproved land at JWN, also known as Parcel 10, wherein MNAA is responsible for the design 
and construction of a hangar for MNPD and Tenant is responsible for reimbursing MNAA for the 
cost of the design and construction through Supplemental Rent. 

The tenant has the right to terminate the Lease within 60 days from the date they were notified 
of the Supplemental Rent, no later than June 23, 2024. 

B. Amendment Terms 

1. The Effective date of the proposed amendment is July 1st, 2024, and Tenant will pay 
$66,746.54 in Supplemental Rent monthly, or $800,958.48 annually, to reimburse MNAA for 
the design and construction of the hangar.     

 
2. Domestic water submeter will be installed to measure the consumption of water by the 

Tenant and the usage will be billed by MNAA. 
 
3. MNAA grants the Tenant an access easement in, to, and across the drainage culvert located 

between the access road known as Tune Airport Drive and the Premises for the purpose of 
vehicular access for ingress and egress to and from the Premises. 

 
  



Page 2 of 2 

C. Impact/Findings 

This amendment will provide MNAA with a continued revenue source, which is currently $83,367 
annually, and a new asset that will vest in approximately 29 years. 

D. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in JWN 

• Plan for the future 

E. Options/Alternatives 

The Finance Committee could decline to recommend approval of the proposed First Amendment, 
which would prohibit MNAA from constructing the Tenant’s hangar and being reimbursed for the 
construction. 

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on May 8, 2024. The Finance Committee voted 3 
to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: May 015, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport and John C. Tune Airport 

Subject: Amendment to IT Staffing Services Purchase Order (PO) 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners: 

1) Authorize the President and CEO to execute an Amendment to the IT Staffing Services, 
transferring $600,000 from the IT O&M budget to pay for 13 personnel procured through Innova, 
for 24/7 Common Use IT Services Team.  The PO value increased of $1,000,000. Project complete. 

 

II. Analysis 

A. Background 

A Request For Proposal (“RFP”) was issued on December 8, 2021, for staffing services for direct 
staffing placement services and temporary staffing placement services for executive, professional, 
and specialty positions.  Seven companies (Accendi Group, ADK, AIC – now known as Innova, Atlas 
Management, CI2, InfoWay Solutions, and Recruiting Sources International) were awarded 
contracts for the above services. The contracts were to be used across MNAA, with a total cost of 
$250,000. A second purchase order to Innova in the amount of $400,000 was created in 
November 2023 to support Information Technology (“IT”) in its IT Terminal Operations Team by 
adding staff augmentation to their team.  
 
It was recently determined that the staff augmentation requirements will exceed the planned cost 
for IT services by $600,000. This amount should resolve any outstanding balances to Innova.  
 
The contract has been utilized to complete the following tasks: 

• Assistance with sourcing candidates for hard to fill roles within IT 

• Provide augmented staff with the IT support area 
 

The Innova team was instrumental in helping MNAA’s needs. Many of the long-term staff 
augmentation members have been converted into MNAA employees.  

Impact/Findings –  

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level:    Gender Neutral 

Contractor SMWBE Participation Level:    Gender Neutral 

Contract Start Date:        March 15, 2022 



Page 2 of 2 

Duration of Contract:        1 year, with 2 one-year renewal options  

Contract Completion Date:        March 15, 2025, with 2 renewal options  

Initial Contract Cost        $0 (Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Qty (“IDIQ”) 

1st Purchase Order (PO)       $400,000 

Innova IT Contract/PO Addition     $600,000 

Proposed Additional IT PO Increase    $1,000,000 

Funding Source:         Information Technology O&M 

 

B. Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in BNA/JWN 

• Plan for the Future 

• Prepare for the Unexpected 

C. Options/Alternatives 

Do Nothing:  The “Do Nothing” option will result in inability to pay for outstanding balances for 
staff augmentation. 

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on May 8, 2024. The Finance Committee voted 3 
to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport 

Subject: Sublease Amendments for Fraport Subtenants 

I. Recommendation 

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners: 

1) approve amendments to six subleases between Fraport and the following entities: 
a. SNA Nashville, LLC:    Amendment 1 
b. Tennessee F&B, LLC:   Amendment 3 
c. Transfare II, LLC:    Amendment 3 
d. Music City Retailers JV:   Amendment 5 
e. Host TRA Nashville FB III, LLC:  Amendment 3 
f. Ferncroft Airport, LLC:   Amendment 2  

2) authorize the Chair and President & CEO to execute the sublease amendments. 

II. Analysis 

A.   Background 

MNAA has a Lease and Concession Agreement (Agreement) with Fraport, Tennessee, Inc. (Fraport) 
to develop and manage a terminal-wide concessions program. The term of the agreement 
commenced on February 1, 2019, and expires on January 31, 2029.  MNAA must become a party 
to subleases that extend beyond the January 31, 2029 expiration date of the Fraport Lease and 
Concession Agreement, so that all rights and obligations of the subleases attorn to MNAA at the 
expiration of Fraport’s Agreement.   

All of the proposed sublease amendments contain minor modifications to the sublease terms.  As 
MNAA is a party to the subleases, the amendments require approval by the Board of 
Commissioners. Key areas of change include the following: 

• Common Area Maintenance (“CAM”) fees  
• Grease Trap Maintenance fees 
• Operating Hours 

Specific changes to each sublease and the impacted concession locations are identified below: 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
Tenant Locations Change To Sublease Terms 
SNA Nashville, LLC ACME, Slim & Huskey’s, Hattie 

B’s 
Deletes CAM fee, revises Grease Trap 
Maintenance provision to require fee 

Tennessee F&B, LLC TN Moonshine Bar, Bongo 
Java, Southern Steak & Oyster, 
Half Moon Empanadas 

Deletes CAM fee, revises Grease Trap 
Maintenance provision to require fee 

Transfare II, LLC Burger King Deletes CAM fee, revises Grease Trap 
Maintenance provision to require fee 

Music City Retailers 
JV 

Donelson Emporium Deletes CAM fee 

Host TRN Nashville FB 
III, LLC 

Starbucks, Shake Shack, 
Pharmacy Burger 

Adds CAM fee, revises Grease Trap 
Maintenance provision to require fee  

Ferncroft Airport, LLC Music City Shop, Kitty Hawk Aligns operating hours for adjacent units 
 
B.  Impact/Findings  

These amendments are housekeeping changes.     

C.  Strategic Priorities 

• Invest in BNA 

• Plan for the Future 

D.  Options/Alternatives 

The Finance Committee could decline to recommend approval of the above sublease 
amendments.   

III. Committee Review 

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on May 8, 2024. The Finance Committee voted 3 
to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners. 

 



 

Page 1 of 5 

 
 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
 Board of Commissioners 

(Information Only) 
 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport 

Subject: FY2024 – 3rd Quarter – MNAA Employee Retirement Plan and Other Post-Employment 
Benefits (OPEB) Investment Report 

I. Reports 

Attached is the Performance Report prepared by Principal for the 3rd Quarter of FY2024. The Principal 
report covers the period from January 1, 2024 through March 31, 2024. 

II. Analysis 

A. Summary 

MNAA Retirement Plan 

The quarter (three months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 4.19% compared to the 
designated Composite Benchmark of 3.86%. The three-month total portfolio return net of fees was 
4.14%. 

The fiscal year-to-date (nine months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 9.96% compared to 
the designated Composite Benchmark of 9.54%.  The year-to-date total portfolio return net of fees 
was 9.80%. 

Asset Allocation Summaries – Retirement Plan  

Principal resets the asset allocations mid-month.  As a result, market fluctuations may result in 
month-end allocations being temporarily and slightly outside of the limits established in the policy.  
On the next month’s reset date, Principal brings all asset classes back into compliance with the 
stated policy.  All exceptions occurring during any quarter are reviewed by the Retirement 
Committee and additional action is taken, if needed.  

 
  



Page 2 of 5 

As of January 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021. 

                                                                                
As of February 29, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021.   

 
As of March 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-011, 
effective July 22, 2021. 

 

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 1/31/2024     (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present         
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,110,795.71$          2.61% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.39%
Bonds and Notes 38,094,309.25$       47.03% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 9.97%
Equities - Large Cap(a) 6,656,312.98$          8.22% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.18%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 8,564,304.53$          10.57% 0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40% 6.83%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 6,555,862.88$          8.09% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.31%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 5,617,435.15$          6.93% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 2.17%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 3,199,490.45$          3.95% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.25%
Equities - International(a) 10,203,906.20$       12.60% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.50%
     Total 81,002,417.15$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities 40,797,312.19$       50.37% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00% 9.63%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 2/29/2024     (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present         
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,325,521.00$          2.84% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.16%
Bonds and Notes 38,300,839.13$       46.72% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 10.28%
Equities - Large Cap(a) 6,648,781.78$          8.11% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.29%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 8,666,485.85$          10.57% 0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40% 6.83%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 6,596,350.09$          8.05% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.35%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 5,773,561.53$          7.04% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 2.06%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 3,270,489.82$          3.99% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.21%
Equities - International(a) 10,390,353.07$       12.68% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.42%
     Total 81,972,382.27$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities 41,346,022.14$       50.44% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00% 9.56%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 3/31/2024     (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present         
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,274,571.78$          2.73% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.27%
Bonds and Notes 38,660,618.52$       46.33% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 10.67%
Equities - Large Cap(a) 6,972,375.57$          8.36% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.04%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 8,845,069.61$          10.60% 0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40% 6.80%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 6,738,036.60$          8.07% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.33%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 5,984,163.94$          7.17% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 1.93%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 3,387,025.87$          4.06% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.14%
Equities - International(a) 10,588,836.87$       12.69% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.41%
     Total 83,450,698.76$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities 42,515,508.46$       50.95% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00% 9.05%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding



Page 3 of 5 

Asset Valuation Summaries – Retirement Plan 

Below are the Asset Valuation Summaries for the third quarter of fiscal year 2024.  

Asset Valuation Summary Pension Plan  

 

Reconciliation Summary – Retirement Plan 

Below is the Pension Reconciliation Summary for the third quarter of fiscal year 2024.  

Pension Summary 3rd QTR FY 2024 (market value)  

 

MNAA OPEB 

The quarter (three months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 5.10% compared to the 
designated Composite Benchmark of 4.91%. The three-month total portfolio return net of fees was 
5.06%.  

The fiscal year-to-date (nine months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 11.27% compared to 
the designated Composite Benchmark of 11.33%.  The year-to-date total portfolio return net of 
fees was 11.11%. 

Asset Allocation Summaries – OPEB 

Principal resets the asset allocations mid-month.  As a result, market fluctuations may result in 
month-end allocations being temporarily and slightly outside of the limits established in the policy.  
On the next month’s reset date, Principal brings all asset classes back into compliance with the 
stated policy. All exceptions occurring during any quarter are reviewed by the Retirement 
Committee and additional action is taken, if needed.  

  

Month Cost Market
Unrealized 
Gain/Loss

1/31/2024 67,804,578.26$       81,002,417.15$     13,197,838.89$       
2/29/2024 67,959,688.95$       81,972,382.27$     14,012,693.32$       
3/31/2024 67,752,050.87$       83,450,698.76$     15,698,647.89$       

1/31/2024 2/29/2024 3/31/2024 3Q FY-to-Date
Beginning Market Value 81,355,600.43    81,002,417.15     81,972,382.27     81,355,600.43       
Total Cash Receipts 44,716.35            44,288.20              46,301.18             135,305.73             
Realized Gain/(Loss) 150,832.37          535,708.98           159,372.28           845,913.63             
Total Cash Disbursements (441,222.83)        (424,886.49)          (413,311.54)         (1,279,420.86)       
Change in Fair Market Value (107,509.17)        814,854.43           1,685,954.57       2,393,299.83         
Ending Market Value 81,002,417.15    81,972,382.27     83,450,698.76     83,450,698.76       



Page 4 of 5 

As of January 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy, 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021. 

 

As of February 29, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy, 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021.  

 
As of March 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy, 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021.  

 

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 1/31/2024    (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present             
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,130,932.97$          2.76% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.24%
Bonds and Notes 15,177,039.08$       37.03% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 4.97%
Equities - Large Cap Value(a) 3,958,309.34$          9.66% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.14%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 5,196,046.14$          12.68% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.52%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 3,976,943.28$          9.70% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.10%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 3,437,026.74$          8.39% 0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50% 1.11%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 1,926,627.02$          4.70% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.70%
Equities - International(a) 6,178,138.04$          15.08% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 1.72%
     Total 40,981,062.61$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities  24,673,090.56$       60.21% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 4.79%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 2/29/2024    (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present             
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,088,819.10$          2.60% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.40%
Bonds and Notes 15,379,410.52$       36.77% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 5.23%
Equities - Large Cap Value(a) 4,097,935.10$          9.80% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.00%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 5,301,921.83$          12.68% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.52%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 4,033,502.40$          9.64% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.16%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 3,531,559.01$          8.44% 0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50% 1.06%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 2,025,752.34$          4.84% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.56%
Equities - International(a) 6,367,254.03$          15.22% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 1.58%
     Total 41,826,154.33$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities  25,357,924.71$       60.63% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 4.37%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 3/31/2024    (based on market values)   

Category Balance Allocation*

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present             
Min-Target-Max Compliance

Max 
Allocation

Allocation 
Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,144,851.53$          2.67% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.33%
Bonds and Notes 15,719,531.21$       36.69% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 5.31%
Equities - Large Cap Value(a) 4,184,760.65$          9.77% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.03%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds(a) 5,472,368.81$          12.77% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.43%
Equities - Large Cap Growth(a) 4,118,610.33$          9.61% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.19%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) 3,681,146.40$          8.59% 0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50% 0.91%
Equities - Small Cap(a) 2,095,820.51$          4.89% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.51%
Equities - International(a) 6,432,127.65$          15.01% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 1.79%
     Total 42,849,217.09$       100.00%
(a)  Total Equities  25,984,834.35$       60.64% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 4.36%
          *Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding



Page 5 of 5 

 

 
 

Asset Valuation Summaries - OPEB 

Below are the Asset Valuation Summaries for the second quarter of fiscal year 2024.  

Asset Valuation Summary OPEB 

 

Reconciliation Summary - OPEB 

Below is the OPEB Reconciliation Summary for the second quarter of fiscal year 2024.  

OPEB Summary 3rd QTR FY 2024 (market value)  

 

B. Impact/Findings 

No action is required by the Finance Committee as this staff analysis is presented for 
informational purposes. 

C. Strategic Priorities 

• Supports the strategic priority of investing assets in the Pension and OPEB plans without 
undue risk while focusing on the total growth of capital and capital preservation while 
protecting against negative results. 

• Invest in BNA/JWN 

• Plan for the Future 

• Prepare for the Unexpected 

Month Cost Market
Unrealized 
Gain/Loss

1/31/2024 38,907,266.37$  40,981,062.61$  2,073,796.24$      
2/29/2024 38,988,483.69$  41,826,154.33$  2,837,670.64$      
3/31/2024 39,094,504.81$  42,849,217.09$  3,754,712.28$      

1/31/2024 2/29/2024 3/31/2024 3Q FY-to-Date
Beginning Market Value 41,018,600.67     40,981,062.61     41,826,154.33     41,018,600.67     
Total Cash Receipts 45,611.60             47,029.99             119,853.99           212,495.58           
Realized Gain/(Loss) 71,261.99             144,851.36           51,186.64             267,299.99           
Total Cash Disbursements (83,108.88)            (110,664.03)         (65,019.51)           (258,792.42)         
Change in Fair Market Value (71,302.77)            763,874.40           917,041.64           1,609,613.27       
Ending Balance 40,981,062.61     41,826,154.33     42,849,217.09     42,849,217.09     



 

Page 1 of 3 

STAFF ANALYSIS 
Board of Commissioners 

(Information Only) 
 

Date: May 15, 2024 

Facility: Nashville International Airport 

Subject: FY 2024 – 3rd Quarter – Treasury Investment Report (March 31, 2024) 

I. Reports 

The following Treasury Investment Report covers the period from January 1, 2024 through March 31, 
2024. 

II. Analysis 

A. Summary 

For FY 2024, the focus remains on minimizing cash in Demand Deposit Bank accounts. MNAA 
invests excess cash in authorized investments to maximize interest earnings. Funds are invested 
by MNAA Staff as well as by PFM Asset Management LLC (“PFMAM”). MNAA staff invests funds 
primarily in Treasury Money Market Funds and TN LGIP. PFMAM invests funds on MNAA’s behalf 
in the MNAA Operating CORE Portfolio, the MNAA Common Debt Service Reserve Portfolio, the 
MNAA 2022A&B Construction Funds Portfolio, and the MNAA 2022A&B Capitalized Interest 
Portfolio.  

The fund allocation for cash and investments (not including accrued interest) at the Authority 
for the quarters ending December 31, 2023, and March 31, 2024, was as follows: 

 
  

12/31/2023 3/31/2024 $ Change % Change 
NAE Fund 203,702,685$          314,825,423$            111,122,738$        54.55%
Operating Cash 239,797,806            149,758,112              (90,039,694)           -37.55%
Construction Accounts 342,346,608            305,869,598              (36,477,010)           -10.65%
Debt Service Accounts 198,687,677            177,302,895              (21,384,782)           -10.76%
PFC Accounts 175,966,364            183,800,492              7,834,128               4.45%
CONRAC Accounts 68,884,725               72,354,387                3,469,662               5.04%
Total Funds 1,229,385,865$      1,203,910,907$        (25,474,958)$         -2.07%



Page 2 of 3 

The asset allocation for cash and investments (not including accrued interest) at the Authority 
for the quarters ending December 31, 2023, and March 31, 2024, was as follows: 

    

 

The listing of accounts on March 31, 2024, is shown in Attachment 1, which also shows the ending 
balances for each month in the quarter.  PFMAM’s Investment Performance Review Report for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2024, is also attached.  Note the difference between these reports 
is due to Attachment 1 reporting investments on an accrual basis and the PFMAM report showing 
market values.   

PFMAM portfolio yields for the quarter were 4.16% for the CORE Portfolio, 3.26% for the Common 
Debt Service Reserve Portfolio (DSR), 4.36% for the 2022A&B Capitalized Interest Portfolio, and 
5.34% for the 2022A&B Construction Funds Portfolio.  

The PFMAM CORE Portfolio benchmark yield, the ICE BofAML 1-3 Year U.S. Treasury Index 
Benchmark, was 4.56%. The PFMAM Common DSR, Construction Funds, and CAP-I benchmark, 
the ICE BofAML 3mo T-Bill, was 5.30%. The MNAA managed funds yield was 5.27% as compared 
to the benchmark S&P Rated GIP All Index yield of 5.35%. The combined yield for the MNAA 
managed and PFMAM Managed Portfolios was 5.02%.  

As staff has noted in previous quarterly results, actual yields on the investments with PFMAM are 
underperforming to the benchmarks due to increases in interest rates, and we expected the gaps 
between the benchmarks and actual yields to close. Although there is still some 
underperformance, we are starting to see actual yields closer to our benchmarks.  Last quarter 
we expected to start seeing a cooling of interest rate hikes by the Federal Reserve and expected 
yields to decrease1 approximately 89 to 108bps in the next 12 months.  However, as inflation 
remains higher than expected, the Federal Reserve has not cut interest rates as quickly as was 
expected.  Staff will continue to monitor interest rate changes and try to maximize our returns.   

The Authority earned a total of $13,185,202 on cash and investments for the third quarter of FY 
2024. In comparison, the income received on cash and investments for the third quarter ended 
March 31, 2023, was $8,274,769. Total available funds for the third quarter of 2024 were $1.20B 
vs $1.22B for third quarter 2023 ($22M less). 

 
 

 
1 Source: Bloomberg, as of December 2023.   

12/31/2023 3/31/2024 $ Change % Change 
U.S. Treasuries 372,339,736$             320,311,833$             (52,027,903)$              -13.97%
Federal Agency 142,061,971                146,640,814                4,578,843                    3.22%
Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities 24,733,024                  24,486,271                  (246,753)                      -1.00%
Certificates of Deposit 1,006,804                    1,006,804                    -                                 0.00%
Commercial Paper 130,221,755                112,393,637                (17,828,118)                -13.69%
Money Market Mutual Funds 323,777,914                342,113,224                18,335,310                  5.66%
Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool  229,747,577                250,325,228                20,577,651                  8.96%
Cash in Demand Deposit Accounts 5,497,084                    6,633,096                    1,136,012                    20.67%
Total Funds 1,229,385,865$          1,203,910,907$          (25,474,958)$              -2.07%



Page 3 of 3 

B. Investment Program Review 

• DDA cash in 3Q FY 2024 was 0.6% of total cash, which outperforms our goal to minimize 
cash in Demand Deposit Accounts to no more than 8% of total funds. 

• As of 3Q FY 2024, per the investment policy, the investment portfolio complies and is 
meeting the investment policy objectives in all areas.   

C. Impact/Findings 

No action is required by the Finance Committee as this staff analysis is presented for 
informational purposes. 

D. Strategic Priorities 

• Supports the strategic priority of maximizing financial assets while protecting invested 
principal and minimizing uninvested cash 

• Invest in BNA/JWN 

• Plan for the Future 

• Prepare for the Unexpected 

Attachments:   

Attachment 1 - Listing of accounts and month-end balances for January 2024, February 2024, and March 
2024  

Attachment 2 – PFMAM Investment Performance Review as of March 31, 2024 

 


	Agenda - Board - May 15, 2024
	Minutes - Board - April 17, 2024
	Staff Analysis - Construction Contract for MNPD Hangar at JWN (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Construction Contract for Cargo Apron Slab Replacement (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - On-Call Contract for Field & Laboratory Testing Services (Opeartions)
	Staff Analysis - First Amendment to MNPD Lease Agreement (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - Amendment to IT Staffing Services Purchase Order (PO) (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - Sublease Amendments for Fraport Subtenants (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - FY24 3Q OPEB Investment Report (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - FY24 3Q Treasury Investment Report (Finance)
	01. Board Agenda May 15, 2024.pdf
	Date/Time:   Wednesday, May 15, 2024, at 1:00 p.m.
	Place:      Nashville International Airport – Tennessee Board Room




